


A. The Initial Decision*

The Initial Decision held that CB&I’s acquisition of PDM violated Section 7 of the
Clayton Act and Section 5 of the FTC Act in four relevant lines of commerce in the United
States: (1) field-erected LNG storage tanks, (2) field-erected LPG storage tanks, (3) field-erected
LIN/LOX storage tanks, and (4) field-erected TVCs.> Although the Initial Decision rejected
Complaint Counsel’s proffered Herfindahl-Hirschman Indices (HHIs) as unreliable forecasters

(AT&V), Atlanta Gas Light Co. (Atlanta Gas), BOC Gases (BOC), Boeing Satellite Systems
(Boeing), British Petroleum (BP), Chart Process Systems (Chart), Chattanooga Boiler & Tank
(Chattanooga), CMS Energy (CMS), Dynegy, Inc. (Dynegy), El Paso Corp. (El Paso), Enron
Corp. (Enron), Fluor, Inc. (Fluor), Graver Tank (Graver), Freeport LNG Development LP
(Freeport LNG), Howard Fabrication (Howard), Intercontinental Terminals Co. (ITC), Ishikawa
Heavy Industries (IHI), Linde BOC Process Plant LLC (Linde), Matrix Service Co. (Matrix),
Memphis Light, Gas & Water (MLGW), Morse Construction Group (Morse), Process Systems
International (PSI), S.N. Technigaz (Technigaz), Skanska AB (Skanska), Toyo Kanetsu K.K.
(TKK), TRW Space & Electronics (TRW), Whessoe International (Whessoe), Williams Energy
(Williams), XL Technology Systems (XL), Yankee Gas Services Co. (Yankee Gas), Zachry
Construction Corporation (Zachry). All other references to companies use the particular
company’s full name or the only name referred to in the record.

4 The Initial Decision states that when the Commission amended its Rules of

Practice for Adjudicative Proceedings, 16 C.F.R. § 3.51, in 2001 it removed the requirement
under Rule 3.51(c)(3) that an Initial Decision be supported by substantial evidence. ID at 85.
Accordingly, it states that its findings of fact are based on “reliable and probative evidence.” Id.
To clarify, we note that when the Commission removed the word “substantial” from Rule
3.51(c)(3), it did not change the evidentiary standard upon which its decisions must be based.

The Federal Register Notice made clear that, prior to the amendment, the "substantial
evidence" language in Rule 3.51(c)(3) referred to the standard for agency decisions under
Section 556(d) of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. 8 556(d), which specifies the
quantum of evidence (in most cases a preponderance) needed to support findings of fact. FTC
Rules of Practice, 66 Fed. Reg. 17,622, 17,626 (Apr. 3, 2001). The Notice also made clear that
the amendment removed the “substantial evidence” language merely to eliminate any confusion
between Section 556(d) and the more deferential substantial evidence standard for judicial
review of agency action. Id. Thus, we take it as settled law that regardless of the standard under
which a reviewing court must accept the Commission’s findings of fact, the Commission (and its
ALJ) normally must base findings upon a “preponderance of the evidence.” See Carter Prods.,
Inc. v. FTC, 268 F.2d 461, 487 (9" Cir. 1959). Of course, the Commission’s factual and legal
review of this matter is de novo.

> IDF 18-19; ID at 126.



of the acquisition’s competitive effects,® it nonetheless found that Complaint Counsel had
established a prima facie case in each of the relevant markets.” Specifically, the Initial Decision
found that Complaint Counsel demonstrated that “CB&I and PDM were the number one and
two competitors . . . and that no other company provides effective competition.”®

The Initial Decision also held that Respondents’ evidence of actual or potential entry did
not rebut Complaint Counsel’s prima facie case.’ It found that “potential and actual entry is slow
and ineffective and cannot keep [the relevant] markets competitive.”*® For the LNG tank market,
the Initial Decision concluded that many of the steps taken by recent or potential entrants are too
preliminary to provide a basis for determining whether they can challenge CB&I’s market power
and that several other projects suggest that the new entrants do not constrain CB&I.** Similarly,
for the LPG and LIN/LOX tank markets, the Initial Decision concluded that the actual 001 Tw[(theee I5ny p 1

6 ID at 89-93.

! ID at 89.

8 ID at 125.

° ID at 100-103.

10 ID at 102.

1 ID at 103-105.

12 ID at 105-106.

3 ID at 106.

1 ID at 109.

1 Id. The Initial Decision does not delineate in which relevant markets customers

lack pricing information. In addition, because it references only those findings of fact related to
the LNG tank market and its findings with respect to customer sophistication in other markets do
not clearly establish a lack of price information (see IDF 204-07), we cannot determine which
three markets the Initial Decision means to include in its analysis.
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have significant bargaining power.* It concluded that Respondents’ evidence of customer
sophistication did not rebut Complaint Counsel’s prima facie case."

Because it found that Respondents did not rebut Complaint Counsel’s prima facie case,
the Initial Decision concluded that Complaint Counsel carried their burden of persuasion that the
merger was likely to substantially lessen competition in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act
and Section 5 of the FTC Act.*®

Although not required to do so, the Initial Decision also considered Complaint Counsel’s
evidence of post-acquisition price increases in the LNG tank, LIN/LOX tank, and TVVC markets
and concluded that the evidence did not show such price increases.*

Finally, the Initial Decision dismissed Respondents’ argument that the merger did not
harm competition because PDM planned to exit the relevant markets even absent the merger.?
The Initial Decision found that Respondents did not establish that PDM had made a decision to
close the business or that PDM had conducted an exhaustive effort to sell the package of assets
sold to CB&1.# It thus concluded that even if an exiting assets defense is legally recognizable,
Respondents did not establish such a defense in this case.?

16 ID at 109.

ol Id.

18 ID at 114-15.

19 ID at 110-114.

20 ID at 115-118. Respondents argued that (1) PDM would have liquidated its EC

Division absent the merger; (2) CB&I was the only potential purchaser; and (3) the merger thus
did not result in a substantial lessening of competition. ID at 115.

2 ID at 116-118.

2 Id.



2 In the present case, the alleged violation of the Federal Trade Commission Act’s
Section 5 prohibition against unfair methods of competition follows from the alleged violation of
Section 7 of the Clayton Act. See FTC v. Cement Inst., 333 U.S. 683, 694 (1948) (conduct that
violates other antitrust laws may violate Section 5 as well). Similarly, a seller’s participation in
an unlawful transaction may violate Section 5 of the FTC Act. See Yamaha Motor Co. v. FTC,
657 F.2d 971, 985 (8™ Cir. 1981) (upholding, solely on Section 5 grounds, a Commission finding
that a sale of stock was unlawful). Accordingly, we determine that the alleged Section 5
violation does not require an independent analysis in this matter.

2 Clayton Act 87, 15 U.S.C. § 18 (2004).

> FTC v. University Health, Inc., 938 F.2d 1206, 1218 (11" Cir. 1991) (quoting
United States v. E.l. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 353 U.S. 586, 589 (1957)).

2 FTC v. PPG Indus., 798 F.2d 1500, 1503 (D.C. Cir. 1986); see FTC v. Elders
Grain Inc.



2 U.S. Dep’t of Justice & Federal Trade Comm’n, Horizontal Merger Guidelines

80.1 (1992, as amended 1997), reprinted in 4 Trade Reg. Rep. (CCH) { 13,104 (hereinafter
Merger Guidelines).
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capacity is constrained and competitors may not be able to increase output in response to an
output restriction by the merged firm. See, e.g., Merger Guidelines § 2.22.

® As the D.C. Circuit has observed, “[t]he Supreme Court has adopted a totality-of-



and the continuation of active price competition.” Additionally, the defendant may
demonstrate unique economic circumstances that undermine the predictive value of the
government’s statistics.*

If Respondents are successful in their rebuttal efforts, the evidentiary burden shifts back
to Complaint Counsel and merges with the ultimate burden of persuasion, which remains with
Complaint Counsel at all times.*

C. Issues and Summary of Decision

» University Health, 938 F.2d at 1218 (citations omitted).
40 Id. at 1218-19.

4 The Complaint initially pled the relevant lines of commerce as TVCs, LNG tanks,
LNG peak-shaving plants, LNG import terminals, LPG tanks, and LIN/LOX/LAR tanks (which
are also known as LIN/LOX tanks). However, the Initial Decision found the four relevant
markets we identify, and the parties have not contested these markets. IDF 18-19.

42 Although Respondents characterize both the LIN/LOX and the LPG tank markets
as attracting new entry post-merger, we find that a more accurate characterization of the
phenomenon to which Respondents point is an attempted expansion by smaller incumbents.

3 Merger Guidelines 8§ 3.2-3.4.



the post-acquisition bidding evidence in the relevant markets* and the bidding history of those

44 Some post-acquisition evidence may not necessarily receive as much weight as

other types of evidence. See United States v. General Dynamics Corp., 415 U.S. 486, 504-05
(1974) (“If a demonstration that no anticompetitive effects had occurred at the time of trial . . .
constituted a permissible defense to a §7 divestiture suit, violators could stave off such actions
merely by refraining from aggressive or anticompetitive behavior.”); Hospital Corp. of America
v. FTC, 807 F.2d 1381, 1384 (7th Cir. 1986) (*Post-acquisition evidence that is subject to
manipulation by the party seeking to use it is entitled to little or no weight.”); B.F. Goodrich Co.,
110 F.T.C. 207, 341 (1988) (same). See also FTC v. Consolidated Foods Corp., 380 U.S. 592,
598 (1965) (finding that the court of appeals gave too much weight to post-acquisition evidence
that, among other things, showed a declining share).

o Areeda, Hovenkamp & Solow have commented that “[t]he only truly reliable

evidence of low barriers is repeated past entry in circumstances similar to current conditions.”
2A Phillip E. Areeda, Herbert Hovenkamp & John Solow, Antitrust Law: An Analysis of
Antitrust Principles and Their Application, §420b, at 60 (2d ed. 2002). See also FTC v. Cardinal
Health, Inc., 12 F. Supp. 2d 34, 56 (D.D.C. 1998) (“[T]he history of entry into the relevant
market is a central factor in assessing the likelihood of entry in the future.”).

4 See CX 74 at PDM - C 1005941(PDM document evaluating a possible
acquisition of CB&I and stating that it would result in “[m]arket dominance in [the] Western
Hemisphere”); CX 648 at PDM-HOU 000267 (recommendation to PDM’s Board that states that
acquiring CB&I will result in “[m]arket dominance™); Tr. at 5169 (testimony from Luke
Scorsone [now the head of CB&I’s Industrial Division] that he believed that an acquisition of
CB&I by PDM could result in worldwide market dominance for LNG and LPG tanks). See also
CX 1686 at CBI/PDM-H 4005550 (“When the integration process is over,” CBI “will truly be
the world leader instorage [sic] tanks”).



characterize sales in those markets. Specifically, Part Il explains how LNG tanks, LPG tanks,
LIN/LOX tanks, and TVCs are constructed and how bidding takes place in each of these
markets.

Part I11 of the Opinion examines the sufficiency of Complaint Counsel’s prima facie case,
deals with the Initial Decision’s exclusion of the HHI evidence, and explains the role of such
evidence in our assessment of Complaint Counsel’s case. We also examine the bidding history
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review of the record.*” We order Respondents to divest such assets and take such actions as are
necessary and appropriate to establish a viable competitor to the market that will restore the
competition lost from this acquisition.

Il. Industry Background

A. LNG Tanks

LNG tanks are field-erected tanks that can store between 2.5 million and 42 million
gallons of natural gas (primarily comprising methane)* at cryogenic temperatures (-260° F).
These tanks are very large, potentially having a diameter of 200 feet or more*® and a height of
100 to 150 feet, and can cost approximately $35 million to $50 million.® Because they store the
gas cryogenically, LNG tanks must have inner walls made of 9 percent nickel steel.* The
metallurgical properties of this 9 percent nickel steel require special welding techniques to
ensure against cracking and other problems. If LNG leaks through the tank due to faulty
welding, the consequences can be disastrous,®? and although this result is unlikely given the
quality checks now in place, faulty welding can result in significant construction delays and
substantial economic and financial losses.>

There are three types of LNG tanks currently produced: (1) single-containment tanks, (2)
double-containment tanks, and (3) full-containment tanks. A single-containment tank is a
double-walled steel tank that comprises one 9 percent nickel steel tank surrounded by insulation

4 Throughout this Opinion, our legal conclusions and findings of fact are
intermixed according to subject matter.

48 Tr. at 537, 1560, 4452, 4964. The transcript describes LNG tank capacity in terms
of both gallons and barrels. For consistency, we have converted all capacity figures to gallons.
There are 42 gallons in a barrel. Tr. at 320, 5007.

49 IDF 24.

50 Tr. at 4566, 6260.

51 Tr. at 530.

52 Tr. at 564-65, 1789, 6234-35.

%3 See, e.g., Tr. at 6285-87 (liquidated damages account for the fact that the revenue
stream does not begin until the facility is finished and that delay can result in the loss of “a lot of
revenue”) (in camera).
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customer, which may result in liquidated damages for the tank supplier.®*

LNG storage tanks generally serve two types of facilities: LNG import terminals and
peak-shaving plants. LNG import terminals receive LNG from tankers and offload the LNG to
storage tanks. As the LNG is distributed, the import terminal pumps the liquid out of the LNG
storage tanks, vaporizes and pressurizes the gas, and sends it to the pipeline.%? In an import
terminal, this process usually happens at roughly the same time that the liquid is unloaded from
the tanker. A peak-shaving plant, on the other hand, is used by local utilities to store LNG to
provide reserves in case of a shortage.®® Thus, as natural gas is delivered, it is liquefied and
stored in the tanks. When the gas is needed, the liquid is vaporized and then sent back through
the natural gas pipeline. The two major components of a peak-shaving plant are the liquefaction
unit (which brings the gas in, treats the gas so it can be liquefied, and then performs the
liquefaction) and the LNG storage tanks.* Field-erected LNG tanks at peak-shaving plants tend
to have smaller capacity than those used in LNG import terminals.®

B. LPG Tanks

LPG tanks are field-erected, refrigerated tanks for liquefied gases including propane,
butane, propylene, and butadiene.®® These tanks store liquefied gases at low temperatures,
around G50° F.*” LPG tanks are also very large, store hundreds of thousands of barrels of LPG,
and cost approximately $5 million.®®

As with LNG tanks, the steel for LPG tanks is fabricated in pieces, shipped to the site,
assembled, and welded.®® The tanks also require proper insulation and a foundation that protects

o Tr. at 6184, 6265-66, 6481-82.

62 Tr. at 6170; IDF 25.

63 IDF 26.

o Id.

% IDF 27.

60 IDF 30; CX 993 at PDM-HOU021479.

67 Tr. at 2722-23.
68 Tr. at 6575, 6719-20, 7281.
69 Tr. at 6567, 6574.
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against the very cold temperatures of the stored liquid moving from the tank into the earth.

0 Tr. at 6579-81.

s Tr. at 6581.

& Tr. at 6709.

s Id.

o Tr. at 825, 833-34; CX 650 at CBI/PDM H4019758.
7 Tr. at 833.

e Tr. at 1346, 4072; CX 170 at CBI-PL009650.
7 Tr. at 1346.

8 Tr. at 1507-08.

7 Tr. at 338, 824-26, 1386.

80 JX 37 at 33.
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At ambient temperatures, LIN is used to create inert (non-reactive) environments in
applications such as chemical blanketing or purging. In its liquid form, LIN has cooling or
freezing applications in the food and manufacturing industries. In manufacturing, LIN can also
shrink materials that otherwise would not fit in the fabrication process. LOX, which unlike LIN
is a very reactive gas and combines directly with virtually all elements, is used in the medical
industry for oxygen treatment and in the steel and glass industries for combustion and melting.
LAR is even more inert than LIN and has applications where an extremely inert environment is
required, such as high-quality welding (where it is used as a shielding gas) and primary metal
furnaces (where it acts to protect the furnace from high temperatures).

D. TVCs

A field-erected TVC is the outer shell of a large vessel that is used to simulate outer
space in order to test satellites before they are launched.®> TVCs also contain a thermal vacuum
system composed of an inner shroud, vacuum insulated pipe, a thermal conditioning unit, and
cryogenic pumps or other pumping equipment.®? Together, this highly sophisticated system of
temperature and vacuum controls allows the chamber to attain temperature ranges from G292° to
(6238° F and a range of extreme vacuum levels.®® Field-erected TVCs can be as large as 45 by
45 by 60 feet® and can cost $12 million to $17 million.*

Typically, one company builds the shroud and another company builds the surrounding
tank.®* The dominant shroud constructors have been PSI (aka Chart) and XL, which, prior to the
merger, formed alliances with the dominant tank constructors — PDM and CB&lI, respectively.

E. Bidding

As we further discuss in Part 111.B, infra, all four relevant markets are characterized by a
purchasing process that uses some form of competitive bidding. In the LNG, LPG, and
LIN/LOX tank markets, for example, buyers try to create a competitive environment by sending

8l Tr. at 1262.
8 Tr. at 1263.

8 Tr. at 1262. The testimony characterized the temperature range as G180° to
G150° C. For consistency, we have converted these figures to Fahrenheit.

84 Tr. at 1264.
8 Tr. at 1891 (in camera), 1923 (in camera), 2074.
8 Tr. at 1264.
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bid packages to multiple bidders.®” Both LNG and LIN/LOX customers testified that they prefer
to have at least three bidders.?® In addition, although it appears most prevalent in the LPG and
LIN/LOX tank markets, customers in all three tank markets use a second round of bidding to
negotiate price so that they can “leverage the competitive environment prior to contract award.”®
Customers in all three tank markets also sometimes inform bidders of the existence of
competition in order to reduce the prices bid.*® Similarly, in the TVC market, customers solicit
proposals from multiple bidders and then either select one bidder with whom to negotiate a best
and final offer (BAFO)® or negotiate BAFOs with multiple bidders.*

Bidding for LNG tanks, however, is particularly complicated, because the construction of
peak-shaving plants and LNG import terminals can be organized in a number of ways.** For
example, a facility owner may choose to manage the project and solicit competitive bids for

8 Tr. at 2302, 2307, 7083.

8 Tr. at 347-38, 4618-19, 6495.

8 Tr. at 2299; see also Tr. at 349-50, 1992-93.
% Tr. at 2304-05, 4954, 5040, 6603, 6626-27.
i Tr. at 1440.

92 Tr. at 211.

% Tr. at 704 (in camera). In addition to engaging in multiple iterations of bidding,
LNG tank customers also employ blind bids, where a bidder has one shot to submit its bid and
does not know who its competition is.

o Where the EPC contractor takes on responsibility for the subcontractor’s work or
performs the work itself, the contract amounts to a turnkey contract. A turkey contractor for an
LNG import terminal or peak-shaving facility is responsible for building the entire plant from the
engineering through the start-up of the plant. Tr. at 1323. Suppliers prefer to provide the
customer with the entire facility, because such projects have higher margins than stand-alone
LNG tanks. Tr. at 2812-13; CX 660 at PDM-HOU005013.
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certain suppliers.® This practice appears less prevalent in the LPG and LIN/LOX tank
markets.*

I1. Complaint Counsel’s Prima Facie Case

A. Herfindahl-Hirschman Index Calculations

At trial, Complaint Counsel presented sales evidence from 1990 to 2001 and asserted that
CB&I and PDM accounted for over 70 percent of all sales made in each of the relevant markets
(and 100 percent of all sales in both the LNG and TVC markets).”” Complaint Counsel argue
that these sales data translate into HHIs that entitle them to a presumption that the acquisition
will lessen competition.”® Complaint Counsel alleged — and the Initial Decision found — that the
acquisition would result in post-acquisition HHIs of 5,845 for the LIN/LOX tank market, 8,380
for the LPG tank market, and 10,000 for the LNG tank and TVC markets.*® Based on Complaint
Counsel’s evidence and the Initial Decision’s findings, the acquisition resulted in HHI increases
of 2,635 for the LIN/LOX tank market, 3,911 for LPG tank market, 4,956 for the LNG tank
market, and 4,999 for the TVC tank market.'®

HHIs measure market concentrations and can indicate market power (or the lack thereof).
They have been consistently employed by courts assessing the likely impact of a merger or
acquisition.” The Initial Decision, however, refused to rely on the HHI data that Complaint
Counsel put into evidence. The ALJ reasoned that in markets with sporadic sales, finders of fact
must treat concentration data with a fair bit of skepticism, because the numbers may not
accurately represent the competitive landscape. The Initial Decision also pointed out that the
changes in concentration in this case are sensitive to the time period chosen and therefore

% Tr. at 6180-82, 6267.
% See Tr. at 6712-13.
o CCACAB at 21.

% Id. at 20.

®  Tr.at3443, IDF 273 (LIN/LOX); Tr. at 3403-04, IDF 218 (LPG); Tr. at 3055,
IDF 68 (LNG); Tr. at 3494, IDF 371 (TVC).

100 | d

101 See, e.g., Heinz, 246 F.3d at 716; PPG Indus., 798 F.2d at 1503; Cardinal Health,
12 F. Supp. 2d. at 53-54.
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concluded that the HHIs are arbitrary and unreliable.’®> Specifically, the ALJ noted that because
CB&l did not build an LNG or LPG tank or a TVC between 1996 and the acquisition, the change
in concentration for that time period would be zero.'®

We understand the ALJ’s point and agree that in markets with sporadic sales, finders of
fact must treat concentration statistics with care. However, total disregard of the concentration
statistics is an entirely different matter and is a step we are unwilling to take in this case. Were
one to look at a snapshot of a particular time, the HHIs taken alone might give the impression
that CB&I was not a competitive force at that time. But such a notion is contradicted by other
evidence in this case.’®™ The ALJ’s observation — which reflects a recognition that the sales in
these markets are indeed sporadic — simply shows why it is appropriate to consider an extended
period of time in analyzing these markets. Therefore, we reverse the ALJ’s conclusion and will
take account of the HHIs in this case.

We have considered the probative value of the concentration data in this case in light of
all other evidence and have concluded that the evidence here corroborates — rather than refutes —
the inferences that can be drawn from the HHIs. For example, in all four relevant markets,
CB&I and PDM made by far the greatest number of sales, not only for the time period focused
on by Complaint Counsel, but also for at least two decades. Indeed, as we noted earlier,'*
Respondents do not contest that they were the dominant suppliers in all four markets prior to the
acquisition. In addition, none of the relevant markets is characterized by easy entry, and other
firms making tanks in the various markets have not expanded their presence by any appreciable
measure. We thus believe the nature of sales in these markets distinguishes the instant case from
cases in which courts have given HHIs little weight due to market conditions. In Baker Hughes,
for example, the government did not present evidence beyond the concentration levels
themselves, and the court found those data unreliable given the volatile nature of the market and
low entry barriers.*® Similarly, in General Dynamics, the Supreme Court found that the market

102 ID at 91-92.

103 ID at 91.

104 Respondents’ own economic expert, Dr. Barry Harris, acknowledged that it would

be incorrect to conclude that the merger does not hurt competition simply because one
Respondent accounted for all the sales in a relevant market over some period of years and the
other Respondent accounted for none. Tr. at 7228.

105 See Part I.C, supra.

106 908 F.2d at 986 (citing United States v. Baker Hughes, 731 F. Supp. 3, 11 (D.D.C.
1990)).
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not take into account that firm’s depleted reserves and commitment contracts.*”’

In a case such as this, where there are very few sales in any given year, the aggregation of

107 415 U.S. at 493.
108 Merger Guidelines § 1.51.
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projects discusses in CX 1645 are peak-shaving plants but CX 125 accounts for them. The
Granite State Gas and Atlanta Gas projects were cancelled. CX 1645 at 2. The Enron, Cove
Point, and Liquid Carbonic projects were not peak-shaving plants. CX 173 at CBI-PL010403,
CX 853 at PDM-HOU011488.

1 IDF 72-73.
12 IDF 65, 72.
113 The bid for this project was awarded in 1995. CX 1645.

114 Tr. at 560, 3196-98. Although PDM was disqualified from bidding on this project
because it did not meet the specifications in the request for proposals, MLGW?’s project manager
testified that once the bids were adjusted for quality, PDM’s bid was very close to CB&I’s. Tr.
at 1876.

Respondents argued at trial that the tank bids themselves were competitive and that the
difference in the MLGW bids is mostly attributable to the liquefaction portion of the bid. The
evidence indicates, however, that CB&I’s tank bid was well below those of Black &
Veatch/TKK and Lotepro/Whessoe. CB&I bid $36 million for the facility — $22 million for the
liquefaction facility and $14 million allocated to the tank. Tr. at 648, 1809. In contrast,
Lotepro/Whessoe’s bid was $40 million. Tr. at 1809. Although there is no evidence on the
precise breakdown of Lotepro’s bid, the project manager for MLGW testified that the tank
portion of Lotepro’s bid was “quite a bit higher” than CB&I’s. Tr. at 1810. Similarly, Black &
Veatch/TKK’s bid was $47.7 million, of which $31 million was allocated to the liquefaction
process and $16.7 million was allocated to the tank. Tr. at 648.
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substantially harmed competition.**®* MLGW testified that it was concerned about the
competition for its upcoming project in 2006, because post-acquisition it does not “see anyone

116 The testimony discussed in this paragraph of text comes from witnesses who

observed first-hand the competition between CB&I and PDM.
1w Tr. at 1830.
118 Tr. at 324.

119 Id

120 Tr. at 703 (in camera).

1t CX 68.

122 CX 94 at PDM-HOUO017580.

123 Prior to the acquisition, Mr. Scorsone was head of PDM’s Erected Construction

Division, which was the division responsible for sales of the various storage tanks and the TVCs
at issue in this case.

124 Tr. at 4851.
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Although the LPG tank market appears not to have been a duopoly prior to the
acquisition,*® only two of the 11 projects bid from 1990 until the acquisition were won by firms
other than CB&I and PDM.'* Furthermore, we find that fully crediting these two projects
overstates their competitive impact. First, although Morse won a bid in 1994, it was later
acquired by CB&I and is no longer in the market.*?” Second, although AT&V won a small
project near its Gulf Coast fabrication facilities in 2000, the record suggests that this award was
an anomaly given the small size and the proximity of the tank to its facilities.’”® Even if we
credit these wins fully, CB&I and PDM still stand as the dominant players and closest
competitors, with only an occasional job going to other firms.

We have taken note that CB&I had not won any LPG tank jobs from 1994 until after the
acquisition.”® While this fact, at first blush, seems to undermine the pre-acquisition competitive
significance of CB&I and suggests that the acquisition may not have actually lessened
competition between CB&I and PDM in LPG tanks, the record shows that CB&I’s string of
losses after 1993 is not competitively significant. One of the LPG jobs that PDM won during
this period (the Sea-3 project) is anomalous because PDM’s bid left out a $400,000 piece of
equipment that should have been included in the price.*® It is not clear that PDM would have
won the bid absent this error. In addition, during this period, CB&I continued to bid on each of
the available LPG jobs, and the evidence suggests that its presence constrained PDM’s pricing.**

Demand for LPG tanks has been declining,**? and therefore customer testimony on the
potential effect of the acquisition is scant. Nevertheless, Fluor testified that the competitive

12 In addition to CB&I and PDM, the record identifies AT&V, Matrix, Wyatt,
Morse, and Pasadena Tank as bidders. Tr. at 3750, 5040, 6550, 6561, 7286. See also JX 23a at
119-123 (in camera), CX 397.

126 IDF 210.
127 Tr. at 6546.
128 Tr. at 7129-31, 7133-34; CX 107 at PDM-HOUO005015.

129 Complaint Counsel’s expert calculated the probability of CB&I’s losing five

straight bids if it were one of two equal bidders as 3.13 percent. Tr. at 3686-87. If it were one of
three equal bidders, the probability would be 32/243 (or 13 percent). Tr. at 3688.

130 Tr. at 4826.
131 Tr. at 2300, 2306, 3375; CX-63, 68, 94 at PDM-HOUO017582, 116, 660.

132 See Tr. at 2309 (Fluor not aware of any field-erected LPG tanks being planned
by anyone).
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183 Tr. at 2307-08. Matrix, a would-be entrant, also stated that CB&I and PDM were
the only competitors for LPG tanks. Tr. at 1614.

134 CX 107 at PDM-HOU005016 (PDM’s “Strategic Plan 2000"); CX 68, 94, 648,
660.

135 CX 216 at CBI-PLO33892.

136 Tr. at 4263-64; see also CX 163 (CB&I document mentioning PDM as main
competitor in the low temperature and cryogenic market, which includes LPG); CX 216 (CB&I
Board of Directors’ September 2000 Strategy Meeting document) at CBI-PL033886 (PDM a
“formidable competitor” to CB&I in LPG in Western Hemisphere).

137



view that the only competitive alternatives in the LPG tank market were PDM and CB&I.'*

3. Pre-Acquisition Competition in the LIN/LOX Tank Market

The LIN/LOX tank market includes (and has historically included) several small fringe
firms. Thus, like the LPG tank market prior to the acquisition, the LIN/LOX market was not an
outright PDM/CB&I duopoly. In addition, Graver manufactured LIN/LOX tanks from 1990
until its exit in 2001.**> Two additional firms, AT&V and Matrix, entered the market not long
before the acquisition.** Chattanooga was an active bidder both before and after the acquisition
but has yet to win a bid.*** One additional firm, BSL, bid for a time and then exited the
market.'*

Despite the appearance, and disappearance, of multiple competitors in the LIN/LOX
market, our examination of recent market history, customer testimony, and company documents
leads us to find that the real competition in LIN/LOX tanks prior to the acquisition consisted of
only CB&I, PDM, and Graver — and then of only CB&I and PDM after Graver exited in 2001.
From 1990 to the acquisition, 109 LIN/LOX tanks were constructed.**® Of these tanks, CB&l
won 25, PDM won 44, Graver won 34, Matrix won 4, and AT&V won 2.**"  Graver was a well-
known competitor in LIN/LOX tanks.*® Its exit in 2001 was a significant event that further
concentrated an already concentrated market.*® Matrix had just entered the market a few years

m Tr. at 2308, 3367.

12 IDF 269-70.

143 IDF 313, 320; Tr. at 4599.

1 IDF 325-27.

s Tr. at 954-55, 1351-52, 1378-80, 1577-78, 2001.
146 IDF 269; ID at 95.

il Id.

148 See Tr. at 479, 1350-51, 1378, 1988-89, 6424-25.

149 See Tr. at 1988-89. Before it exited the market in 2001, Graver’s performance
had been deteriorating following its acquisition by Iteq (several years before CB&I acquired
PDM). Tr. at 2425.
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prior to the acquisition.”® Shortly before the acquisition, AT&V also was finally able to win a
LIN/LOX bid and has since completed the project and won two additional bids.™* The section
on entry below (Part IV.C.3) discusses in detail why none of these third-party firms has been a
sufficient entrant — that is, one that has replaced the competition lost from the acquisition.

Customer testimony supports the conclusion that CB&I and PDM were the two principal
competitors in the U.S. LIN/LOX tank market after Graver’s exit in 2001 and that the acquisition
substantially reduced competition. Air Liquide testified that it was concerned about the
acquisition because competition had already been reduced by Graver’s exit and because prices
would tend to rise with only one viable LIN/LOX tank supplier left.**? Linde testified that the
acquisition drastically reduced its choice to one vendor.*® Air Products testified that the
acquisition eliminated a low-cost, preferred bidder and that it expects prices in LIN/LOX to go
up as a result.™ MG Industries testified that the acquisition took away an aggressive
competitive bidder and that it is worse off after the acquisition, without PDM in the market.™
PDM was the lowest bidder for the last three or four project inquiries for MG Industries, which

150 IDF 320.

181 Tr. at 2321-22, 2504-05, 4599.

152 Tr. at 1988-91.

153 Tr. at 878.

154 Tr. at 1352-53.

155 Tr. at 475.

156 Tr. at 462.

157 CX 183; CX 193 at CBI-PL20339; IDF 279-82.
158 CX 183; CX 193 at CBI-PL020339.

1% |DF 277-79.
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relatively little attention to other competitors.*®® Taken as a whole, this evidence supports the
conclusion that the market was dominated by CB&I and PDM and that they were each other’s
closest competitor at the time of the acquisition.

4. Pre-Acquisition Competition in the TVC Market

Only CB&lI, PDM, and Howard have submitted bids for TVC tank projects since 1990.
The record demonstrates, however, that despite Howard’s bidding presence, it has not been a
significant factor in the TVC market. Howard has never won a project and is not regarded by
customers as a credible bidder.*® In fact, although Howard submitted a lower bid for
Raytheon’s Long Beach project, Raytheon chose the CB&I/XL pairing®? because Raytheon
believed that CB&I/XL had a superior technical approach.'®® In addition, Howard’s total yearly
revenues are small, ranging from $2.5 million-$3.0 million, and its bonding capability is
correspondingly small.**

Customers agree that the main competition for TVCs was between CB&I and PDM and
that the acquisition would eliminate this competition to their detriment. For example, TRW
testified that when it learned that CB&I had acquired PDM, it estimated that the cost for its
planned chamber would increase 50 percent.’®> Another customer, Spectrum Astro, testified that
it considers competition between at least two suppliers important to foster innovation and to keep
prices down.*®

160 | d

161 Tr. at 192-93, 384-87, 1443. In addition, Howard’s founder testified that he did
not believe that Howard had any real chance of winning a large TVC project. Tr. at 192-93.

162 Typically, one company builds the shroud and another company builds the tank

that encloses it. Tr. at 1264. The dominant shroud constructors have been PSI (aka Chart) and
XL, which have formed alliances with the dominant tank constructors, PDM and CB&I. Thus,
in the bidding on field-erected TVC projects, PSI/PDM has typically been pitted against
XL/CB&l.

163 Tr. at 383-87.

1o Tr. at 181, 200.
165 Tr. at 1456-57.
166 Tr. at 2050-51.
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As with the other product markets, Respondents’ documents show us that the real
competition for TVCs rested in CB&I and PDM. A draft business plan for CB&I and XL’s
strategic alliance to bid for TVC projects described the “only competition for the thermal
vacuum systems market” as the PSI/PDM “strategic alliance.”*®” Witnesses representing the two
makers of shrouds for TVCs testified that the only companies able to construct tanks for field-
erected TVCs were PDM and CB&I,'®® one stating that “there were basically two dominant
companies that supplied the field-erected chambers and two dominant companies that supplied
[thermal vacuum control] systems.”®°

5. Conclusions on Pre-acquisition Competition

The qualitative record evidence thus bolsters the conclusions that can be drawn from the
HHIs, which show extremely high levels of concentration in all four markets. The acquisition
has resulted in a merger to monopoly or near-monopoly in each relevant market, giving rise to a
very strong presumption that the merger is anticompetitive. We next turn to a discussion of
entry conditions to determine if there is any evidence to suggest that the acquisition is less
anticompetitive than the concentration levels show.

C. Entry Conditions

In addition to their prima facie case based on concentration numbers and a more detailed
examination of competitive conditions in each market, Complaint Counsel presented evidence
that the LNG, LPG, and LIN/LOX tank markets are difficult to enter.!”® Although Respondents
present a very different entry argument as a major part of their defense, we analyze entry
conditions in the context of Complaint Counsel’s prima facie case. We do this because evidence
of high entry barriers necessarily strengthens the conclusions to be drawn from Complaint
Counsel’s showing of high concentration levels.'” If entry is difficult, then CB&I would be

167 CX 212 at CBI-PL031721; Tr. at 1159.
168 Tr.at 1110, 1115, 1118, 1267.
169 Tr. at 1118.

170 The difficulty of entry into the TVC market is not in dispute. Rather than
suggesting that new entrants or expanding smaller incumbents will restore competition,
Respondents argue that CB&I was not a competitive presence in the TVC market. RAB at 48.

o In addition, while we acknowledge the conceptual framework of shifting burdens
of production, we note that as a practical matter it would be difficult to consider this evidence
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barrier).
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See, e.g., Visa, 163 F. Supp. 2d at 341 (finding, among other barriers to entry, an



186 RAB at 20.

187 Merger Guidelines 88§ 3.2-3.4.

188

See Visa, 163 F. Supp. 2d. at 342 (entry must be “timely, likely, and [of a]
sufficient scale to deter or counteract any anticompetitive restraints”); Cardinal Health, 12 F.
Supp. 2d at 55-58 (same); Robert D. Willig, Merger Analysis, Industrial Organization Theory,
and Merger Guidelines, Brookings Papers on Economic Activity: Microeconomics, 281, 307
(1991) (“[T]he likelihood, timeliness, and sufficiency of the induced entry are the critical
elements of the analysis.”); 2A Phillip E. Areeda, Herbert Hovenkamp & John Solow, supra note
45, 1422, at 74-78. See also FTC v. Staples Inc., 970 F. Supp. 1066, 1088 (D.D.C. 1997)
(finding that expansion by Wal-Mart would not constrain the merging parties’ prices).

189 908 F.2d at 988-89.

190 Id. at 986.
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credible alternatives.*®®

1. Entry Conditions of the LNG Tank Market

LNG tank customers require potential suppliers to have a good reputation, knowledge of
the local labor force, knowledge of federal and local regulatory requirements, and employees
who are skilled at designing and constructing tanks. In other words, suppliers must have
experience to compete. The evidence suggests that customers view experience in the LNG tank
market as evolving over time, with each successfully completed project improving a supplier’s
ability to provide a quality product and to obtain future work. For example, customers evaluate a
potential supplier’s strength in each of the aforementioned categories. Moreover, it appears that
as an LNG tank supplier builds more tanks, it becomes more efficient both in terms of costs and
its ability to build a quality product.®® This dynamic is particularly important in the United
States, where CB&I has decades of experience and has solidified a reputation for quality and
reliability. To enter the U.S. market effectively, an LNG tank supplier must not only meet
customers’ basic requirements but also must be able to match CB&I’s long-honed abilities.

The evidence clearly establishes that an 